IN THE SUPREME COURT OF MISSISSIPPI

NO. 2009-IA-01939-SCT

TRUSTMARK NATIONAL BANK, FRANK HART AND ALVIS HUNT

APPELLANTS

V.

C. BRENT MEADOR, M.D.

APPELLEE

NO. 2009-IA-01940-SCT

MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST HEALTH SYSTEMS, INC., C. GERALD COTTON, LU HARDING, CHARLES HARRISON, ERIC A. MCVEY, III, M.D., KURT METZNER AND JAMES P. WIGLEY **APPELLANTS**

V.

C. BRENT MEADOR, M.D.

APPELLEE

APPELLANTS' BRIEF OF TRUSTMARK NATIONAL BANK, FRANK HART AND ALVIS HUNT

Interlocutory Appeal from Circuit Court of Hinds County, Mississippi, First Judicial District, Cause No. 251-04-1065CIV

ORAL ARGUMENT IS NOT REQUESTED

OF COUNSEL:

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

- 1. Did the trial court err in denying Trustmark National Bank, Frank Hart and Alvis Hunt's summary judgment motion based upon *res judicata*, where the current action involves the same underlying cause of action and set of facts as a prior action in the same court, which resulted in final judgment in favor of Trustmark?
- 2. Did the trial court err in denying Trustmark National Bank, Frank Hart and Alvis Hunt's summary judgment motion based upon the statute of limitations, where Plaintiff's claims accrued at the latest in February 1999 and the complaint was not filed until August 31, 2004?
- 3. Did the trial court err in denying Trustmark National Bank, Frank Hart and Alvis Hunt's Motion to Strike Inadmissable Hearsay Portions of Affidavit of Dr. C. Brent Meador and then apparently relying on that inadmissable testimony?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Nature of the Case, Course of Proceedings, and Disposition in the Circuit Court

This is Plaintiff Dr. C. Brent Meador's, second attempt to sue Trustmark National Bank concerning a series of promissory notes he executed in favor of Trustmark in the 1990s as part of a line of credit. Plaintiff defaulted on the last of those promissory notes. In the prior case, Trustmark filed a collection suit against Plaintiff, and Plaintiff asserted a number of counterclaims against Trustmark.

After extensive litigation, judgment was entered in favor of Trustmark, and Plaintiff's counterclaims were dismissed with prejudice. Plaintiff filed an appeal of that judgment, which was eventually dismissed. That judgment is therefore final and unappealable.

After filing for bankruptcy and receiving a discharge, Plaintiff filed the current suit, asserting

claims almost entirely identical to his prior counterclaims and concerning the same line of credit. After the case was removed from, and remanded to, the Hinds County Circuit Court, Trustmark moved for summary judgment based upon the defenses of *res judicata* and the statute of limitations. The only evidence offered by Plaintiff in opposition to Trustmark's summary judgment motion was his own affidavit. Trustmark separately moved to strike hearsay portions of Plaintiff's affidavit.

At the summary judgment hearing, Trustmark's motion to strike was denied from the bench and its summary judgment motion was taken under advisement. An order denying the motion was entered on July 3, 2009. However, the circuit clerk's office did not provide Trustmark notice of the order. Therefore, Trustmark obtained leave pursuant to Mississippi Rule of Appellate Procedure 4(h) to reopen the time to file a petition for interlocutory appeal. Trustmark's petition for permission to file an interlocutory appeal was granted by the Court on February 11, 2010. Trustmark's appeal, No. 2009-IA-01939-SCT, was consolidated with Mississippi Baptist Health Systems, Inc.'s related appeal, No. 2009-IA-01940-SCT.

B. Statement of the Facts

In this action, Plaintiff asserts claims against Trustmark National Bank, Frank Hart, a Trustmark vice president during the relevant time period, and Alvis Hunt, a Trustmark director during the relevant time period (collectively, "Trustmark"), plus numerous defendants associated with Mississippi Baptist Health Systems, Inc. ("MBHS").

¹ Mr. Hunt died on December 25, 2009, although he still is identified as a named party to this appeal.

1. <u>Meador's Previous Claims Against Trustmark and Mississippi Baptist Health Systems</u>, Inc.

This case has its origin in a series of promissory notes that Plaintiff entered into with Trustmark in the 1990s as part of a line of credit, and Plaintiff's separate agreement to sell his medical practice to MBHS, formerly known as Mississippi Baptist Medical Center, in 1996. Plaintiff alleges that these two transactions are linked by a conspiracy between Trustmark and MBHS to cause him financial harm.

a. Plaintiff's Prior Claims Against Trustmark ("Meador I")

On May 21, 1998, Trustmark filed suit against Plaintiff in the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, to collect the sums due on a promissory note Plaintiff executed in favor of Trustmark on September 29, 1997, in the original principal amount of \$230,000.00. ("Meador I") (R. 123-156.) This note represented a renewal of other notes Plaintiff had previously executed in favor of Trustmark.

On July 19, 1999, Plaintiff filed an amended answer and counterclaim against Trustmark in *Meador I.* (R. 157-165; R.E. Tab 5.)² The counterclaim alleged, *inter alia*, that:

During early 1996 Trustmark agreed to extend a line of credit of up to \$500,000.00 to Meador for the purchase and operation of a medical clinic located in Byram, Mississippi.

Based upon that loan commitment, Dr. Meador entered into an agreement to purchase and lease the facility in Byram and to operate it as a medical clinic in association with Mississippi Baptist Medical Center ("MBMC").

During the course of purchase and operation of the clinic by Meador, Trustmark refused to loan the full amount of the line of

² Citations to the record on appeal are designated as R. _____. Citations to the record excerpts are designated as R.E. Tab .

credit which it had given to Dr. Meador. As a result, Dr. Meador's clinic suffered serious cash flow difficulties which were a significant contributing cause of Dr. Meador's forced sale of his clinic to MBMC.

During the course of the purchase and operation of the Byram clinic, Trustmark also permitted another entity, Central Medical Management, Inc., to borrow money against the credit line which it had established for Dr. Meador without the knowledge or permission of Dr. Meador.

These actions by Trustmark were a significant contributing cause of Dr. Meador's being unable to meet his financial obligations with respect to the Byram clinic and being forced to sell the clinic to MBMC at a substantial loss.

(R. 160-161; R.E. Tab 5.)

Plaintiff asserted claims against Trustmark for breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, interference with business relations, invasion of privacy and negligence. (R. 162-164; R.E. Tab 5.)

b. Plaintiff's Prior Claims Against MBHS, Allegations of Collusion Between Trustmark and MBHS

During the pendency of *Meador I*, on February 17, 1999, Plaintiff, through counsel, sent a letter and draft complaint to MBHS. (R. 166-184; R.E. Tab 9.) The draft complaint alleged that MBHS breached a contract with Plaintiff in connection with MBHS's 1996 purchase of Plaintiff's Byram clinic. The draft complaint also alleges that MBHS breached an agreement with Plaintiff to purchase Mobile Physicians Services, Inc. ("MPS"), which was solely owned by Plaintiff. (R. 174-175; R.E. Tab 9.) Specifically, the draft complaint alleged:

Later in 1996, Dr. Meador was induced by representatives of Defendants to enter into a different arrangement under which Dr. Meador became an employee of MBMC, and MBMC acquired the assets of the Byram Family Medical Clinic, Inc.

One of the inducements offered by Defendants to Dr. Meador

to enter into the employment agreement was that MBMC would purchase Mobile Physicians Services, Inc. for the sum of \$250,000.00. This amount was sufficient to pay off a note which MPS and Dr. Meador had at Trustmark National Bank which had arisen because of previous actions of Defendant MBMC.

The agreement for the purchase of MPS was memorialized in writing by MBMC and forwarded to Dr. Meador for his signature.

Immediately after MBMC sent Dr. Meador the agreement for the purchase of Mobile Physician Services, Inc. by MBMC for \$250,000.00, Dr. Meador was advised that MBMC would not honor the agreement.

MBMC subsequently reduced its offer to purchase MPS to \$100,000.00, which was a breach of its previous agreement and which, if accepted by Dr. Meador, would have left MPS and Dr. Meador still subject to a claim against them from Trustmark National Bank in excess of \$100,000.00.

MBMC has failed and refused to honor its obligation for the purchase of MPS for \$250,000.00 to the injury of Dr. Meador.

(R. 174-175; R.E. Tab 9.)

Plaintiff's counsel's letter of February 17, 1999, accompanying the draft complaint stated: "We have significant evidence that other parties, including Trustmark Bank, have colluded with MBMC in seeking to destroy Dr. Meador and take his business from him." (R. 168; R.E. Tab 9.)

The *Meador I* litigation was extensive, lasting for over three years and including thorough discovery. (R.185-190; R.E. Tab 8.) Trustmark filed several partial motions for summary judgment seeking dismissal of the various counterclaims asserted by Plaintiff. (R. 191-192; R.E. Tab 6.) With respect to Plaintiff's claims for breach of contract, breach of fiduciary duty, conversion, breach of implied covenant of good faith and fair dealing, and negligence, Trustmark contended, *inter alia*, that Plaintiff waived any alleged claims upon the execution of renewal notes with knowledge of said claims. Plaintiff responded that he did not have the requisite knowledge to voluntarily waive the

claims.

On July 11, 2001, the circuit court entered its memorandum opinion and order granting Trustmark's motion for summary judgment and dismissing with prejudice Plaintiff's counterclaims against Trustmark in *Meador I.* (R. 191-208; R.E. Tab 6.) The court held that by renewing the subject indebtedness, Plaintiff waived all alleged defenses and counterclaims he knew or should have known existed.³ (R. 193-197; R.E. Tab 6.)

On September 10, 2001, the circuit court entered its final judgment in *Meador I*, awarding Trustmark \$308,839.58, together with interest and attorneys' fees. (R. 209; R.E. Tab 7.) On October 5, 2001, Plaintiff filed a notice of appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court. (R. 210.) Plaintiff's appeal of the *Meador I* judgment was eventually dismissed. (R. 190; R.E. Tab 8.)

2. Plaintiff's Bankruptcy

On June 6, 2002, Plaintiff filed his first petition for relief pursuant to Chapter 7 of the Bankruptcy Code in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Mississippi, Case No. 02-03179. (R. 218-219.) On June 12, 2002, the bankruptcy court gave notice to the Mississippi Supreme Court of Plaintiff's bankruptcy and his appeal was stayed. (R. 220.) Plaintiff's first bankruptcy case was dismissed by the bankruptcy court on July 7, 2002, for failure to file schedules and statements. (R. 219.)

On August 14, 2002, Plaintiff commenced his second Chapter 7 bankruptcy proceeding in the United States Bankruptcy Court for the Southern District of Mississippi, Case No. 02-04514.

³ With respect to Plaintiff's claim for invasion of privacy (which was not asserted in the current action), the court held that Trustmark, as Plaintiff's creditor, possessed a qualified privilege to disclose Meador's default to a third party. (R. 202-205; R.E. Tab 6, quoting Hopewell v. Enters., Inc. v. Trustmark Nat'l Bank, 680 So. 2d 812, 817-18 (Miss. 1996).) Plaintiff voluntarily withdrew his claim for interference with business relations.

(R. 222.) A Chapter 7 trustee was appointed.

On August 30, 2002, Plaintiff, via counsel, filed his Statement of Affairs and Schedules pursuant to 11 U.S.C. § 521. In Schedule B, he was required to describe by category each item of personal property he owned, including any unliquidated tort claims. In response to the question of whether he had any "other contingent and unliquidated claims of every nature, including tax refunds, counterclaims of the debtor, and rights to setoff claims," Plaintiff stated, "None." (R. 235.)

On February 26, 2004, nearly one and one-half years later, Plaintiff amended his Schedule B to list as an asset, "Possible lawsuit against companies, entities and related parties affiliated with MS Baptist Medical Center." (R. 231-256.) He did not mention any claim against Trustmark.

On July 7, 2004, the bankruptcy court entered an order discharging Meador of his pre-petition debts, including the debt to Trustmark. (R. 265-266.) On July 20, 2004, Trustmark filed a proof of claim based upon its judgment against Plaintiff in *Meador I*. (R. 267-268.)

3. The Current Action

On August 31, 2004, Plaintiff filed this new lawsuit in Hinds County Circuit Court against Trustmark and MBMC. None of the defendants was served with that complaint. On December 30, 2004, Plaintiff filed an amended complaint in the Hinds County Circuit Court adding, *inter alia*, Mr. Hart and Mr. Hunt as defendants. Trustmark removed the action to the United States District Court for the Southern District of Mississippi. (R. 49-108.) Plaintiff filed a motion to remand. On March 6, 2007, the case was remanded to the circuit court. (R. 109-114.)

The amended complaint makes few allegations specific to Trustmark, even fewer with respect to Mr. Hunt, and none specific to Mr. Hart. Some of the allegations concerning Trustmark in this case are the exact same as made in Plaintiff's counterclaim in *Meador I*: (1) Trustmark provided Plaintiff with a line of credit to finance Plaintiff's Byram medical clinic (*compare* R. 37-38;

R.E. Tab 3 with R. 160-161; R.E. Tab 5); (2) Trustmark would not extend Plaintiff additional credit beyond this line of credit (compare R. 40-41; R.E. Tab 3 with R. 160-161; R.E. Tab 5); and (3) Trustmark allegedly allowed Central Medical Management to make unauthorized draws upon Plaintiff's line of credit to pay for clinic expenses and expenditures (compare R. 38; R.E. Tab 3 with R. 161; R.E. Tab 5). All of the allegations in Plaintiff's amended complaint arise out of the same body of fact as did Meador I.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The Hinds County Circuit Court's order denying Trustmark's summary judgment motion should be reversed because all of Plaintiff's claims are barred by the doctrine of *res judicata* and the applicable statute of limitations. The circuit court also abused its discretion by denying Trustmark's motion to strike the hearsay portions of Plaintiff's affidavit in support of his response in opposition to summary judgment, which was the only evidence submitted by Plaintiff.

To begin, Plaintiff has already litigated these claims against Trustmark in the Hinds County Circuit Court, which resulted in their dismissal with prejudice in *Meador I*. Plaintiff's appeal of the *Meador I* judgment was dismissed. The *Meador I* judgment is now final and unappealable.

Under Mississippi law, the doctrine of *res judicata* requires the presence of four identities:

(1) identity of the subject matter of the action; (2) identity of the cause of action; (3) identity of the parties to the cause of action; and (4) identity of the quality or character of a person against whom the claim is made. All of these identities are clearly present with respect to Trustmark National Bank. As vice-president and director, respectively, Frank Hart and Alvis Hunt have the requisite privity with Trustmark National Bank to satisfy the identity of the parties requirement. During summary judgment proceedings, Plaintiff has not contested that the identities are satisfied, or that

Mr. Hart and Mr. Hunt are in privity with Trustmark.

Instead, Plaintiff argued that the *Meador I* judgment should be ignored, because he alleges it was procured through fraud. Plaintiff has never moved pursuant to Rule 60(b) for relief from the *Meador I* judgment. Nor has he identified the alleged fraud by which Trustmark supposedly obtained the prior judgment in *Meador I*. Plaintiff wholly failed to either: (1) argue that the four *res judicata* identifies are not satisfied, or (2) follow the proper procedure for setting aside a judgment. Accordingly the *Meador I* judgment bars Plaintiff's current action.

The statute of limitations with respect to Plaintiff's claims has long since run. The circuit court in *Meador I* held that Plaintiff's claim with respect to the promissory notes accrued at the latest in September 1997. Plaintiff's "conspiracy" claim accrued, at the latest, in February 1999 when his counsel alleged that Plaintiff was in possession of "significant evidence that ... parties, including Trustmark Bank, have colluded with MBHS in seeking to destroy Dr. Meador and take his business from him." All of Plaintiff's claims, except the intentional infliction of emotional distress claim, are subject to Mississippi's general three-year statute of limitations. The intentional infliction of emotional distress claim is subject to the one-year statute of limitations for intentional torts. Accordingly, the last of Plaintiff's claims became time barred, at the latest, in February 2002.

To avoid the statute of limitations, Plaintiff asserts that these claims were fraudulently concealed from him, and therefore the statute of limitations was tolled. Fraudulent concealment requires Plaintiff prove: (1) some affirmative act or conduct was done and prevented his discovery of a claim; and (2) due diligence was performed on his part to discover it. In support of his fraudulent concealment claim, Plaintiff submitted his own affidavit, alleging he was told by someone named Brent Farris that MBHS and Trustmark had entered into a conspiracy to financially destroy him. At the time of the summary judgment hearing, Farris was a convicted felon who absconded

prior to reporting to federal prison.

Trustmark moved to strike these blatant examples of hearsay. No written response to Trustmark's motion to strike was ever filed. At the hearing, Plaintiff did not argue that his affidavit testimony concerning what Farris told him fell within any of the hearsay exceptions contained in the Mississippi Rules of Evidence. The circuit court denied the motion to strike from the bench without explanation. This was clearly an abuse of discretion.

Plaintiff's affidavit testimony is plainly offering an out-of-court statement by Brent Farris (namely that Trustmark and MBHS entered into a conspiracy to destroy Plaintiff) to prove the truth of the matter asserted (namely, that the conspiracy exists). This is a textbook example of hearsay. No exception has been offered. The hearsay portions of the affidavit should have been stricken. Without these statements, there is no record evidence of an affirmative act of concealment on the part of Trustmark. Plaintiff has also wholly failed to prove he used due diligence in attempting to discover his claims. The fraudulent concealment claim fails as a matter of law. Accordingly, Plaintiff's claims are barred by the statute of limitations.

ARGUMENT

Trustmark has raised as defenses to these claims both the doctrine of *res judicata* and the statute of limitations. Both of these defenses were pled in Trustmark's answer. (R. 269-277; R.E. Tab 4.) The Court applies a *de novo* standard of review to a circuit court's grant or denial of a summary judgment motion. *See*, *e.g.*, *Crawford Logging*, *Inc.* v. *Estate of Irving*, 41 So. 3d 687, 689 (Miss. 2010).

A. This Action is Barred by Res Judicata

Because Plaintiff has unsuccessfully litigated similar and/or identical claims arising out of the same set of facts, which resulted in a final judgment against him (R. 209; R.E. Tab 7), his claims in this action are barred under the doctrine of *res judicata*. As a preliminary matter, it should be noted that, although Plaintiff voluntarily dismissed his appeal to the Mississippi Supreme Court in the first action, the underlying judgment is still final⁴ and unappealable. *See* MISS. R. APP. P. 42 cmt. ("Once an appeal is voluntarily dismissed, no further appeal may be brought.") (citing MISS. CODE ANN. § 11-3-15 (1991)). Therefore, for purposes of *res judicata*, the judgment is final. *See* RESTATEMENT (SECOND) OF JUDGMENTS § 13 (1982) ("The rules of res judicata are applicable only when a final judgment is rendered.").

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