#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

#### NO. 2009-IA-01939-SCT

#### TRUSTMARK NATIONAL BANK, FRANK HART AND ALVIS HUNT

#### DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

V.

C. BRENT MEADOR, M.D.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

consolidated with NO. 2009-IA-01940-SCT

#### MISSISSIPPI BAPTIST HEALTH SYSTEMS, INC., C. GERALD COTTON, LU HARDING, CHARLES HARRISON, ERIC A. MCVEY, III, M.D., KURT METZNER, AND JAMES P. WIGLEY DEFENDANTS/APPELLANTS

V.

C. BRENT MEADOR, M.D.

PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE

#### PLAINTIFF/APPELLEE MEADOR'S CONSOLIDATED OPPOSITION BRIEF

Interlocutory Appeal from the Circuit Court of the First Judicial District of Hinds County, Mississippi, Cause No. 251-04-1065CIV

OF COUNSEL:

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

#### **III. SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT**

1. This is not an appeal from a summary judgment on the merits. It is an appeal from a purely discretionary ruling on a procedural issue, to wit: allowing the deposition of Brent Farris, an absent witness identified with the Defendant MBHS before ruling on the merits, if an alleged basis for summary judgment remains after an evidentiary deposition. The trial court neither finally sustained nor denied Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment on the merits. A ruling on the merits remains available to the trial court under Rules 50 and 56, Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure, and otherwise, after the deposition of an absent and absconding witness is taken.

2. The standard applicable to this appeal from a procedural ruling of the trial court is "clear error" subject to the requirements of Rule 56, Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure and Rule 5, Mississippi Rules of Appellate Procedure. Any disputed issues of material fact will preclude summary judgment. A trial court's discretionary ruling that such summary judgment evidence is to be allowed will not be disturbed on appeal.

3. There are issues of fact and unresolved discovery issues which preclude summary judgment on the merits under rule 56 (b), (c), (d), (e) and (f), Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure. Granting a summary judgment against a discretionary ruling of a trial judge on unresolved discovery issues flies in the face of this Court's Rule 56 jurisprudence.

4. Plaintiff's claims are not barred, without dispute of material fact, by res judicata.

5. Plaintiff's claims are not barred, without dispute of material fact, by any statute of limitations

6. Plaintiff's contemporaneous Motion to Take Limited Discovery strongly supports affirming and remanding this case without prejudice to re-

urging all of these points of law and fact after remand, if appropriate, in the light of the summary judgment evidence then appearing.

#### IV. ARGUMENT AND AUTHORITIES

POINT ONE: This is not an appeal from a final judgment on the merits. It is an appeal from a purely discretionary ruling on a procedural issue, to wit: the availability of a key witness. The trial court neither sustained nor denied Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment on the merits.

Sometimes Mississippi trial judges will make ore tenus announcements concerning rulings on motions for summary judgment, but it is most common for judges to enter an order simply finding that there are genuine issues of material fact which preclude summary judgment, which is exactly what the trial judge did in the case at bar. A review of the arguments at the hearing will indicate that the trial judge was told that a very important witness having important information was unavailable but should be heard from before a ruling on the merits. There is very substantial evidence creating genuine disputes of material fact over and above the proposed testimony of Brent Farris, which the trial court found. For all of these reasons, this interlocutory appeal is improvidently taken and there is no basis for reversing an interlocutory order overruling and denying the Summary Judgment Motions which remains subject to a reconsideration under Rules 50 and 56, Mississippi Rules of Civil Procedure.

Nor is this a case in which counsel were not reasonably diligent. To the contrary, the absent witness is identified with MBHS -- not with the Plaintiff -- and through no fault of the Plaintiff was absent, upon information and belief, in Mexico, Italy, Indonesia and various other unknown places prior to being located and arrested by federal officials. The witness in question is now in jail and available for deposition. It is simply true that the deposition of this important witness should be taken and documents

- 8 -

available through him should be examined, and the trial court after remand should be given an opportunity to examine the status of these Motions for Summary Judgment in the light of those facts.

This is largely a factual matter: the Defendants have briefed this case as if all of the discovery and evidence was closed in advance of the summary judgment hearing and there was no relevant evidence to be made available. That is not true. Through fortuitous good fortune, it is true that the missing witness is now available. It is unthinkable that this Court would convert the judge's interlocutory ruling into a final judgment on the merits in this procedural posture without allowing the deposition of the missing witness. <u>POINT TWO: Plaintiff's claims are not barred without dispute of fact by a release.</u>

A. Summary Judgment Standard.

The summary judgment standard is provided by Miss. R. Civ. P.

56(c):

The judgment sought shall be rendered forthwith if the pleadings, depositions, answers to interrogatories and admissions on file, together with the affidavits, if any, show that there is no genuine issue as to any material fact and that the moving party is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.

The evidence must be viewed in a light most favorable to the non-movant.<sup>1</sup> Also, "the non-movant is granted the benefit of all inferences that can be adduced from the evidence."<sup>2</sup> The Mississippi Supreme Court has stated:

All motions for summary judgment should be viewed with great skepticism and if the trial court is to err, it is better to err on the side of denying the motion. When doubt exists whether there is a fact issue, the non-moving party gets its benefit. Indeed, the

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> Brent Towing Co., Inc. v. Scott Petroleum Corp., 735 So.2d 355 (Miss.1999) <sup>2</sup> Id.

party against whom the summary judgment is sought should be given the benefit of every reasonable doubt.<sup>3</sup>

The granting of summary judgment may not be appropriate for allegations of fraud.<sup>4</sup> If a jury applying the standard of proof for fraud could reasonably find that a fraud was committed, granting of summary judgment in a fraud cause is inappropriate.<sup>5</sup> To have power to generate a genuine issue of material fact to overcome summary judgment, the non-movant's affidavit, depositions, answers to interrogatories, or otherwise must: (1) be sworn; (2) be made upon personal knowledge; and (3) show that the party providing the factual evidence is competent to testify.<sup>6</sup>

There are genuine issues of disputed facts which are material to the merits of Plaintiff's claims which preclude summary judgment, argument of which is contained hereinbelow. These include: (1) the fact that the alleged release instrument on the basis of which MBHS claims summary judgment is <u>not</u> authentic, (2) the release in question when properly identified contains reservations and limitations in scope which do not bar the Plaintiff's claims; (3) Plaintiff's claims accrued later, and (4) the other matters of material disputed facts listed and described hereinabove and in the Affidavit of Dr. Meador.

As a starting point, Dr. Meador submits that the copy of the Mutual Release and Termination Agreement supplied by the Defendants is not authentic.<sup>7</sup> Meador asserts in his Affidavit that he crossed out and initialed the portion of the authentic release that called for the release of "unknown claims" against MBHS and its affiliates.<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> Daniels v. GNB, Inc., 629 So.2d 595, 599 (Miss.1993)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Allen v. Mac Tools, Inc., 671 So.2d 636, 643 (Miss.1996); Cunningham v. Lanier, 555 So.2d 685, 687 n. 2 (Miss.1989)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> McGee v. Swarek, 733 So.2d 308 (Miss.Ct.App.1999)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> Watson v. Johnson, 848 So. 2d 873 (Miss. Ct. App. 2002).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> See Defendant's Exhibit, Mutual Release and Termination Agreement

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See Exhibit 1, Affidavit of Meador

Furthermore, Meador asserts that he initialed the first five pages of the Release upon its execution. Without initials on each page, there is no guarantee that the parties agreed to anything other than paragraph 16, which states that Mississippi law will be controlling on the issue. He also asserts that the original Release had a place for a notary to seal the document, but no such location and no such seal exists on the copy of the purchase and sale agreement containing a release term which was attached to Defendants' Motions for Summary Judgment during this litigation.<sup>9</sup>

Lastly, the copy of the Release provided by the Defendants is dubious for another reason -- the footnote and page numbers on pages one through five are much higher than the same exact footnote and page numbers on the last two pages-- which happen to be the only two pages that contain signatures. Presumably, the identical date and time stamps on all pages implies that each page is part of the same computer file, yet for no apparent reason, the footnotes on the last two pages are irregularly placed on the page when compared with the first five pages.

During the course of litigation, Meador turned over various records to the Federal Bureau of Investigation and the United States Attorney who were investigating MBHS at the time. It is his belief that a correct copy of the original release is located at the offices of the United States Attorney or elsewhere, as Meador and his legal counsel are presently unable to locate a great volume of documents given to the United States Attorney's Office in response to a federal grand jury subpoena duces tecum. Both Meador and his counsel are continuing to actively search for the missing release.<sup>10</sup>

 $<sup>^{9}</sup>$  *id*. As a practical aside, it seems highly suspect that the experienced attorneys for MBHS would allow a release transferring over \$350,000 to an individual to be fashioned with as much self-authenticating formality as a personal letter.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Of course, the inability to locate the actual release does not directly prove that the release submitted by the defendants is authentic. Defendants bear the burden of proving its authenticity to the jury. Given the format of the document, any sheet of paper placed before the signatures could be switched, changed, or rescinded and easily made to look like a part of the original contract.

Miss. R. Evid. 901 governs the authentication requirements for evidence. "The requirement for authentication is . . . satisfied by evidence sufficient to support a finding that the matter in question is what its proponent claims."<sup>11</sup> Even if the Defendants can make a prima facie showing of authenticity, "the evidence goes to the jury and it is the jury who will ultimately determine the authenticity of the evidence, not the court. The only requirement is that there has been substantial evidence from which they could infer that the document was authentic [or not]."<sup>12</sup>

The Mississippi Supreme Court has clearly stated "that where there are allegations made as to the validity of a release due to fraud, misrepresentation, adhesion or other inequities then the case properly goes to the jury or fact finder."<sup>13</sup> The authenticity of the Release is clearly a disputed issue of material fact, and a jury should be able to hear both arguments regarding the same.

#### B. The Release Instrument As Written Is Limited in Scope and Does Not Bar the Claims Pleaded

According to 17 Am.Jur.2d Contracts § 297 n. 74 (1991): "Clauses limiting liability are given rigid scrutiny by the courts, and will not be enforced unless the limitation is fairly and honestly negotiated and understandingly entered into."<sup>14</sup> The Mississippi Supreme Court has held that the issue of whether a release is void because of "an absence of good faith and full understanding of legal rights [and the] nature and effect of instrument was misrepresented" is a question of fact for the jury.<sup>15</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Miss.R.Evid. 901(a) (as cited in Sewell v. State, 721 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1998))

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> Sewell v. State, 721 So.2d 129 (Miss. 1998) (citing United States v. McGlory, 968 F.2d 309, 328-29 (3rd Cir. 1992)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> Royer Homes of Mississippi, Inc. v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc., 857 So.2d 748 (Miss. 2003)

<sup>14</sup> Farragut v. Massey, 612 So.2d 325 (Miss.1992)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Willis v. Marlar, 458 So.2d 722, 724 (Miss. 1984)

Any ambiguities in the document itself are to be construed against the drafter,<sup>16</sup> and it is the role of the fact-finder to determine whether a contract actually exists.<sup>17</sup> Similarly, the party (in this case MBHS) hoping to gain a benefit from the Release Agreement must show by a preponderance of the evidence that there was a meeting of the minds.<sup>18</sup> In that vein, the Supreme Court has overturned a grant of summary judgment when the jury should have been allowed "to consider whether the so-called release was void because of an absence of good faith and a full understanding of legal right, misrepresentation of the nature and effect of the document or lack of adequate consideration."<sup>19</sup>

As Meador alleges in both his Amended Complaint and Affidavit, MBHS's bad faith actions misrepresented the nature and effect of the release in such a way that it subjugated Meador's ability to fully understand the release's ramifications [actually resulting in Meador rejecting a sweeping, all-encompassing release], thereby causing him to receive no consideration or inadequate consideration for execution of the release.

At the time the release was signed, Meador was unaware that Trustmark and MBHS had entered into a conspiracy against his financial interests, and would not have signed the release for the amount stated had he known this. In fact, clearly because both Trustmark and MBHS fraudulently concealed a continuing course of conduct, Meador did not learn about the conspiracy until 2004, when Brent Farris, a former MBHS Senior employee or consultant, told Meador what had transpired and about the existence of audiotapes documenting the same.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> One South, Inc. v. Hollowell, 963 So.2d 1156 (Miss. 2007) citing Leach v. Tingle, 586 So.2d 799, 801-02 (Miss.1991) and Stampley v. Gilbert, 332 So.2d 61, 63 (Miss.1976).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>17</sup> Ammons v. Cordova Floors, Inc., 904 So.2d 185 (Miss. Ct. App. 2005)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>18</sup> Viverette v. State Highway Comm'n of Miss., 656 So.2d 102, 103 (Miss. 1995)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> Smith v. Sneed, 638 So.2d 1252 (Miss. 1994)

#### C. The Release Instrument As Written Does Not Bar Claims Which Were Fraudulently Concealed

"Equity mandates that wrongdoers should be estopped from enjoying the fruits of their fraud."<sup>20</sup> For this reason, Mississippi law will always refuse to enforce a release agreement procured by fraud.<sup>21</sup> If the Release Agreement is found to be non-authentic -- a question of fact for the jury -- equitable maxims demand that it be held a legal nullity. Even if the purported release term of the purchase and sale agreement supplied by Defendants is determined to be authentic, any claims hidden by fraudulent conduct of MBHS and/or Trustmark would not be encompassed by the Release Agreement -- and the release instrument does not run in favor of Trustmark.

Although settlement of disputes is usually encouraged by the courts, logic and public policy dictate that a perpetrator of fraud should not be able to enjoy the fruits of his conduct. As a result, a signed release may be partially valid as to the known causes of action, yet invalid as to those claims which have been fraudulently concealed.<sup>22</sup>

Fraudulent concealment serves to toll the statute of limitations for any cause of action.<sup>23</sup> In the present case, Meador was unaware of the conspiracy until 2004, when Brett Farris presented him with information stating that MBHS and Trustmark had engaged in a common scheme and plan to thwart his business opportunities and that these facts were documented only tape recording generated as a result of a federal grand jury investigation. Thus, the statute of limitations did not begin to run until shortly before December 2004. Shortly after learning of this knowledge, Meador timely filed an Amended Complaint alleging these facts.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>20</sup> Windham v. Latco of Mississippi, Inc., 972 So.2d 608 (Miss. 2008)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>21</sup> McManus v. Howard, 569 So.2d 1213, 1215 (Miss. 1990)

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>22</sup> For the sake of argument, this line of thought hinges on the Release Agreement being authentic. Of course, as stated repeatedly, Meadors asserts that the Release Agreement is inauthentic.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>23</sup> Myers v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of America, Inc., 5 F.Supp.2d 423, 431 (N.D.Miss.1998); Miss. Code Ann. Section Miss.Code Ann. § 15-1-67 (1995).

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